VIRTUS INVESTMENT PARTNERS, INC.

Form 10-Q August 09, 2016

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF $^{\rm x}$ 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016

OR

...TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to Commission File Number: 001-10994

VIRTUS INVESTMENT PARTNERS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 95-4191764
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
100 Pearl St., Hartford, CT 06103
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(800) 248-7971
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES x NO "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). YES x NO "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x

Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer "(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company"

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES " NO x

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock was 7,718,336 as of July 22, 2016.

Table of Contents

VIRTUS INVESTMENT PARTNERS, INC.

INDEX

		Page
Part I. F	INANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements (Unaudited)	
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015	<u>2</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) for the Three and Six Months Ended	<u>3</u>
	June 30, 2016 and 2015	<u> </u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) for the Three and Six	<u>4</u>
	Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2015	-
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the Six Months Ended June 30.	<u>5</u>
	2016 and 2015	<u>J</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Unaudited) for the Six Months Ended June	<u>6</u>
	30, 2016 and 2015	<u>U</u>
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	<u>7</u>
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u> 26</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>39</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>41</u>
Part II. (OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>41</u>
Item 1A	Risk Factors	<u>42</u>
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	<u>42</u>
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>44</u>
	<u>Signatures</u>	<u>45</u>

"We," "us," "our," the "Company" and "Virtus" as used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, refer to Virtus Investment Partners, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries.

Table of Contents

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(Unaudited)	June 30,	December 3	31
	2016	2015	31,
(\$ in thousands, except share data)	2010	2013	
Assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$155,532	\$ 87,574	
Investments	91,736	56,738	
Accounts receivable, net	36,030	38,757	
Assets of consolidated sponsored investment products	ŕ	,	
Cash of consolidated sponsored investment products	1,094	1,513	
Cash pledged or on deposit of consolidated sponsored investment products	1,006	10,353	
Investments of consolidated sponsored investment products	130,396	323,335	
Other assets of consolidated sponsored investment products	2,594	8,549	
Assets of consolidated investment product			
Cash equivalents of consolidated investment product	91,044	8,297	
Investments of consolidated investment product	344,886	199,485	
Other assets of consolidated investment product	6,078	1,467	
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net	8,348	9,116	
Intangible assets, net	39,633	40,887	
Goodwill	6,788	6,701	
Deferred taxes, net	46,434	54,143	
Other assets	13,404	12,814	
Total assets	\$975,003	\$ 859,729	
Liabilities and Equity			
Liabilities:			
Accrued compensation and benefits	\$26,242	\$ 49,617	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	20,448	23,036	
Dividends payable	4,047	4,233	
Other liabilities	13,543	13,051	
Liabilities of consolidated sponsored investment products	3,073	15,387	
Liabilities of consolidated investment product			
Debt of consolidated investment product		152,597	
Notes payable of consolidated investment product	319,716		
Securities purchased payable and other liabilities of consolidated investment product	94,683	18,487	
Total liabilities	481,752	276,408	
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)	25.115	-2 0 6 4	
Redeemable noncontrolling interests	27,145	73,864	
Equity:			
Equity attributable to stockholders:			
Common stock, \$0.01 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 9,108,411 shares issued	0.1	06	
and 7,718,063 shares outstanding at June 30, 2016 and 9,613,088 shares issued and	91	96	
8,398,944 shares outstanding at December 31, 2015	1 001 220	1 140 075	
Additional paid-in capital Accumulated deficit		1,140,875	`
	(452,163)	•)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss Transpury stock at cost 1,200,248 and 1,214,144 shores at June 20, 2016 and December 21.	(184)	(1,034)
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,390,348 and 1,214,144 shares at June 30, 2016 and December 31,	(172,699)	(157,699)
2015, respectively			

Total equity attributable to stockholders	466,273 509,624
Noncontrolling interests	(167) (167)
Total equity	466,106 509,457
Total liabilities and equity	\$975,003 \$859,729

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

(Ollaudited)				
	Three Mo Ended June 30,	onths	Six Month June 30,	s Ended
	2016	2015	2016	2015
(\$ in thousands, except per share data)				
Revenues				
Investment management fees	\$58,192	\$68,867	\$115,836	\$139,363
Distribution and service fees	12,167	17,635	24,645	37,233
Administration and transfer agent fees	9,499	12,577	19,497	25,619
Other income and fees	227	577	402	1,272
Total revenues	80,085	99,656	160,380	203,487
Operating Expenses				
Employment expenses	33,065	33,593	69,042	69,215
Distribution and other asset-based expenses	17,432	23,676	35,533	48,183
Other operating expenses	12,457	23,512	23,222	40,238
	777	957	1,910	1,775
Other operating expenses of consolidated investment product	3,841	_	3,897	
Restructuring and severance	2,391	_	2,391	
Depreciation and other amortization	776	873	1,638	1,652
Amortization expense	603	837	1,254	1,674
Total operating expenses	71,342	83,448	138,887	162,737
Operating Income	8,743	16,208	21,493	40,750
Other Income (Expense)	,	,	,	,
Realized and unrealized gain on investments, net	3,281	343	2,623	888
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments of consolidated				
sponsored investment products, net	3,097	(3,242)	3,392	(652)
Realized and unrealized gain of consolidated investment product, net	581		2,816	
Other (expense) income, net		247	213	682
Total other income (expense), net	6,944		9,044	918
Interest Income (Expense)	- /-	())	- ,-	
Interest expense	(129)	(121)	(261)	(244)
-	619	302	892	582
Interest and dividend income of investments of consolidated sponsored		2 000		5 400
investment products	1,696	3,098	4,657	5,422
Interest expense of consolidated investment product	(5,668)		(6,400)	
Interest income of consolidated investment product	2,582	_	4,788	
Total interest (expense) income, net	-	3,279	3,676	5,760
Income Before Income Taxes	14,787	16,835	34,213	47,428
Income tax expense	6,087	7,823	13,643	18,691
Net Income	8,700	9,012	20,570	28,737
Noncontrolling interests		765	-	382
Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders	\$8,088	\$9,777	\$20,451	\$29,119
Earnings per Share—Basic	\$0.99	\$1.10	\$2.48	\$3.26
Earnings per Share—Diluted	\$0.97	\$1.08	\$2.43	\$3.20
Cash Dividends Declared per Share	\$0.45	\$0.45	\$0.90	\$0.90
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding—Basic (in thousands)	8,170	8,889	8,257	8,927
	,	*	•	•

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding—Diluted (in thousands) 8,314 9,037 8,410 9,094 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2016	2015		2016	2015	
(\$ in thousands)						
Net Income	\$8,700	\$9,012	2	\$20,570	\$28,737	7
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:						
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of (\$287) and \$30 for the						
three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively and (\$348) and \$195	470	(49)	569	(320)
for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively						
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax of (\$74) and						
\$62 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively and	121	(103)	281	(99)
(\$171) and \$61 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 respectively						
Other comprehensive income (loss)	591	(152)	850	(419)
Comprehensive income	9,291	8,860		21,420	28,318	
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests	(612)	765		(119)	382	
Comprehensive Income Attributable to Common Stockholders	\$8,679	\$9,625	5	\$21,301	\$28,700)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated fi	nancial st	tatemen	ts	•		

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(0.1.4.4.4.4.4.4)	Six Month June 30, 2016	ns Ended	
(\$ in thousands)	2010	2013	
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:			
Net income	\$20,570	\$28,737	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	Ψ20,570	Ψ20,757	
Depreciation expense, intangible asset and other amortization	3,009	3,436	
Stock-based compensation	6,658	6,433	
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	-) (1,328)
Amortization of discount on notes payable of consolidated investment product	3,719	_	,
Amortization of deferred commissions	1,365	5,339	
Payments of deferred commissions) (2,040)
Equity in earnings of equity method investments) (669)
Realized gain on sale of equity method investment	(2,883) —	,
Realized and unrealized losses (gains) on trading securities, net	260	(609)
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments of consolidated sponsored investment			,
products, net	(4,218) 2,315	
Realized and unrealized gains of consolidated investment product, net	(2,146) —	
Sales of trading securities, net	11,122	8,131	
Sales (purchases) of investments by consolidated sponsored investment products, net	100,436	(39,993)
(Purchases) sales of securities sold short by consolidated sponsored investment products, net) 2,040	,
Purchases of investments by consolidated investment product, net	` ') —	
Deferred taxes, net	7,190	636	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	,,1,0	000	
Cash pledged or on deposit of consolidated sponsored investment products	9,582	(3,489)
Accounts receivable, net and other assets	576	4,665	,
Other assets of consolidated sponsored investment products) (1,855)
Other assets of consolidated investment product) —	,
Accrued compensation and benefits, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities) (15,104)
Liabilities of consolidated sponsored investment products	187	4,909	,
Liabilities of consolidated investment product, net	217		
Net cash provided by operating activities	51,945	1,554	
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:	,	-,	
Capital expenditures	(1,093) (2,978)
Proceeds from sale of equity method investment	8,621	_	
Change in cash and cash equivalents of consolidated sponsored investment products due to			
deconsolidation	103	_	
Asset acquisitions and purchases of other investments	(759) (1,601)
Cash acquired in business combination		89	
Purchases of available-for-sale securities	(121) (111)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	6,751	(4,601)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:	- y -	()===	,
Borrowings of proceeds from short sales by consolidated sponsored investment products		831	
C I			

Payments on borrowings by consolidated sponsored investment products	(3,415)		
Repayment of debt of consolidated investment product	(152,597)	_	
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable by consolidated investment product	316,280	_	
Dividends paid	(7,638)	(8,167)
Repurchases of common shares	(61,809)	(28,000)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	400	61	
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of restricted stock units	(1,332)	(4,841)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation	164	1,328	
Contributions of noncontrolling interests, net	1,537	34,237	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	91,590	(4,551)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	150,286	(7,598)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	97,384	203,304	
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	\$247,670	\$195,706)
Non-Cash Investing Activities:			
Change in accrual for capital expenditures	\$45	\$(465)
Investment in acquired business	_	4,800	
Non-Cash Financing Activities:			
Decrease to noncontrolling interest due to deconsolidation of consolidated sponsored	\$ (52.974.)	\$(1.560	`
investment products	\$(52,874)	\$(1,309)
Dividends payable	\$3,473	\$4,048	
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statement	nts.		

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Unaudited)

(Onduction)	Common S	tock			o 1	la Tere tasury S	Stock	Total			
(\$ in thousands except per share data)	Shares	Par V	Additional Paid-in alue Capital	Accumulate Deficit	Other Compred Income (Loss)	nensive Shares	Amount	Attributed To Stockholde	Non- controll Interesters	.Total ing Equity s	
Balances at December 31, 2014	8,975,833	\$96	\$1,148,908	\$(507,521)	\$(242)	575,441	\$(77,699)	\$563,542	\$(190)	\$563,352	
Net income (loss) Net unrealized	_		_	29,119	_	_	_	29,119	(200)	28,919	
loss on securities available-for-sale	_		_	_	(99	_	_	(99)	_	(99)
Foreign currency translation adjustments	_		_	_	(320	· —	_	(320)	_	(320)
Activity of noncontrolling interests, net	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	
Cash dividends declared (\$0.90 per common share)	_	_	(8,143)	_	_	_	_	(8,143)		(8,143)
Repurchases of common shares Issuance of	(212,588)	_	_	_	_	212,588	(28,000)	(28,000)	_	(28,000)
common shares related to employee stock transactions	55,384	_	787	_	_	_	_	787	_	787	
Taxes paid on stock-based compensation	_		(4,841)	_	_	_	_	(4,841)	_	(4,841)
Stock-based compensation Excess tax	_	_	6,168	_	_	_	_	6,168	_	6,168	
benefits from stock-based	_		1,150	_	_	_	_	1,150	_	1,150	
compensation Balances at June 30, 2015	8,818,629	\$96	\$1,144,029	\$(478,402)	\$(661)	788,029	\$(105,699)	\$559,363	\$(390)	\$558,973	,
Balances at December 31, 2015	8,398,944	\$96	\$1,140,875	\$(472,614)	\$(1,034)	1,214,144	\$(157,699)	\$509,624	\$(167)	\$509,457	
Net income Net unrealized gain on securities	_	_		20,451		_	_	20,451 281	_	20,451 281	

available-for-sale Foreign currency translation adjustments		_	_	_	569	_	_	569	_	569
Activity of noncontrolling interests, net	_		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Cash dividends declared (\$0.90 per common share)	_	_	(7,452	· —	_	_	_	(7,452) —	(7,452)
Repurchases of common shares	(732,713)	(6)	(47,133	_	_	176,204	(15,000)	(62,139) —	(62,139)
Issuance of common shares related to employee stock transactions	51,832	1	963	_	_	_	_	964	_	964
Taxes paid on stock-based compensation	_	_	(1,332	· —	_	_	_	(1,332)	(1,332)
Stock-based compensation	_		6,620	_	_	_	_	6,620	_	6,620
Tax deficiencies from stock-based compensation	_	_	(1,313	· —	_	_	_	(1,313) —	(1,313)
Balances at June 30, 2016	7,718,063	\$91	\$1,091,228	\$(452,163)	\$(184)	1,390,348	\$(172,699)	\$466,273	\$(167)	\$466,106

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

1. Organization and Business

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (the "Company," "we," "us," "our" or "Virtus"), a Delaware corporation, operates in the investment management industry through its subsidiaries.

The Company provides investment management and related services to individuals and institutions throughout the United States of America. The Company's retail investment management services are provided to individuals through products consisting of open-end mutual funds, closed-end funds, exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), variable insurance funds, Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS") and separately managed accounts. Institutional investment management services are provided to corporations, multiemployer retirement funds, employee retirement systems, foundations, endowments, structured products and as a subadviser to unaffiliated mutual funds.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, these financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the Company's financial condition and results of operations. Operating results for the six months ended June 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its subsidiaries and investment products that are consolidated. Voting interest entities ("VOEs") are consolidated when the Company is considered to have a controlling financial interest which is typically present when the Company owns a majority of the voting interest in an entity or otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiary or investment product.

The Company evaluates any variable interest entities ("VIEs") in which the Company has a variable interest for consolidation. A VIE is an entity in which either (a) the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its own activities without additional financial support or (b) where as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk do not possess: (i) the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity's economic performance; (ii) the obligation to absorb expected losses or the right to receive expected residual returns of the entity; or (iii) proportionate voting and economic interests and where substantially all of the entity's activities either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor with disproportionately fewer voting rights. If any entity has any of these characteristics, it is considered a VIE and is required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

The Company's investment products that are consolidated are referred to as consolidated sponsored investment products or the consolidated investment product. Consolidated sponsored investment products are investment products in which the Company generally holds a majority of the economic interests. The consolidated investment product is a collateralized loan obligation ("CLO") in which the Company has a beneficial interest. The consolidation and deconsolidation of these investment products have no impact on net income attributable to stockholders. The Company's risk with respect to these investments is limited to its investment in these products and any investment

management fees it earns. The Company has no right to the benefits from, and does not bear the risks associated with, these investment products beyond the Company's investments in, and fees generated from, these products. The Company does not consider cash and investments held by the investment products it consolidates to be assets of the Company other than its direct investment in these products. See Note 13 for additional information related to the consolidation of sponsored investment products and the investment product. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company's significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are summarized in its 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Table of Contents

New Accounting Standards Implemented

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis ("ASU 2015-02") on January 1, 2016. This standard modifies existing consolidation guidance for reporting organizations that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain entities. Certain unconsolidated entities that had been classified as VOEs under previous consolidation guidance are now classified as VIEs under ASU 2015-02. As such, disclosure for VIEs is included in Note 13 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted ASU No. 2014-13, Measuring the Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities of a Consolidated Collateralized Financing Entity ("CFE") ("ASU 2014-13") on January 1, 2016. This new standard requires reporting entities to use the more observable of the fair value of the financial assets or the financial liabilities to measure the financial assets and the financial liabilities of a CFE when a CFE is initially consolidated. It permits entities to make an accounting policy election to apply this same measurement approach after initial consolidation or to apply other GAAP to account for the consolidated CFE's financial assets and financial liabilities. It also prohibits all entities from electing to use the fair value option in ASC 825, Financial Instruments, to measure either the financial assets or financial liabilities of a consolidated CFE that is within the scope of this issue. The Company has elected the measurement alternative for its consolidated investment product. The Company's subsequent earnings from the consolidated investment product will reflect changes in value of the Company's own economic interest in the consolidated investment product. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted ASU No. 2015-16 "Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments" ("ASU 2015-16") on January 1, 2016. ASU 2015-16 requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. ASU 2015-16 requires that the acquirer record, in the financial statements of the period in which adjustments to provisional amounts are determined, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs ("ASU 2015-3") on January 1, 2016, which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in the balance sheet. This new standard requires that debt issuance costs be presented as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt rather than being presented as an asset. Amortization of debt issuance costs will continue to be reported as interest expense. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15 to amend ASU 2015-03 to address line-of-credit agreements. ASU 2015-15 allows entities to present debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit agreements as an asset and amortize deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the term of the line-of-credit arrangement, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Implemented

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718) ("ASU 2016-09"). This standard makes several modifications to Topic 718 related to the accounting for forfeitures, employer tax withholding on share-based compensation and the financial statement presentation of excess tax benefits or deficiencies. ASU 2016-09 also clarifies the statement of cash flows presentation for certain components of share-based awards. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Principal Versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross Versus Net), which amends the principal-versus-agent implementation guidance in ASU 2014-09. The new guidance will impact whether an entity reports revenue on a gross or net basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2016-08, which is effective for the Company in conjunction with the adoption of ASU 2014-09.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-07, "Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 232): Simplifying the Transition to the Equity Method of Accounting." This standard eliminates the requirement that when an existing cost method investment qualifies for use of the equity method, an investor must restate its historical financial statements, as if the equity method had been used during all previous periods. Under the new guidance, at the point an investment qualifies for

Table of Contents

the equity method, any unrealized gain or loss in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) will be recognized through earnings. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASU 2016-02"). The standard replaces current codification Topic 840 with updated guidance on accounting for leases and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities arising from an operating lease on the balance sheet, whereas previous U.S. GAAP did not require lease assets and liabilities to be recognized for most leases. Furthermore, companies are permitted to make an accounting policy election to not recognize lease assets and liabilities for leases with a term of 12 months or less. For both finance leases and operating leases, the lease liability should be initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The recognition, measurement and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee will not significantly change under this new guidance. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities ("ASU 2016-1"), which requires all equity investments (other than those accounted for under the equity method) to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through net income. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods therein. Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"). ASU 2014-09 provides a comprehensive new revenue recognition model requiring a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount reflecting the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Companies may use either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. In July 2015, the FASB confirmed a deferral of the effective date by one year, with early adoption on the original effective date permitted. As deferred, ASU 2014-09 is effective for the first interim period within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets, net are summarized as follows:

	June 30,	December
	2016	31, 2015
(\$ in thousands)		
Definite-lived intangible assets:		
Investment contracts	\$158,747	\$158,747
Accumulated amortization	(153,930)	(152,676)
Definite-lived intangible assets, net	4,817	6,071
Indefinite-lived intangible assets	34,816	34,816
Total intangible assets, net	\$39,633	\$40,887

Table of Contents

Activity in intangible assets, net is as follows:

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2016 2015

(\$ in thousands)

Intangible assets, net

 Balance, beginning of period
 \$40,887
 \$41,783

 Additions
 —
 2,400

 Amortization
 (1,254)
 (1,674)

 Balance, end of period
 \$39,633
 \$42,509

4. Investments

Investments consist primarily of investments in the Company's sponsored mutual funds. The Company's investments, excluding the investments of consolidated sponsored investment products and the investments of the consolidated investment product, which are separately discussed in Note 13, at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 were as follows:

		June 30,	December 31,
		2016	2015
(\$	S in thousands)		
N	Iarketable securities	\$80,234	\$ 41,496
E	quity method investments	5,147	9,007
N	onqualified retirement plan assets	5,430	5,310
O	ther investments	925	925
T	otal investments	\$91,736	\$ 56,738

Marketable Securities

The Company's marketable securities consist of both trading and available-for-sale securities. The composition of the Company's marketable securities is summarized as follows:

June 30, 2016

	Cost	Unrealized	Unrealized	Fair
	Cost	Loss	Gain	Value
(\$ in thousands)				
Trading:				
Sponsored funds	\$69,355	\$ (3,146)	\$ 256	\$66,465
Equity securities	10,217	(356)	339	10,200
Available-for-sale:				
Sponsored closed-end funds	3,476	(221)	314	3,569
Total marketable securities	\$83,048	\$ (3,723)	\$ 909	\$80,234

Table of Contents

December 31, 2015

	Cost	Unrealized Loss	Unrealized Gain	Fair Value
(\$ in thousands)				
Trading:				
Sponsored funds	\$31,167	\$ (2,134)	\$ 298	\$29,331
Equity securities	9,434	(386)	120	9,168
Available-for-sale:				
Sponsored closed-end funds	3,355	(365)	7	2,997
Total marketable securities	\$43,956	\$ (2,885)	\$ 425	\$41,496

For the three months ended June 30, 2016, the Company recognized a net realized gain of \$0.2 million on trading securities and for the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company recognized a net realized loss of \$0.2 million on trading securities. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company recognized a net realized gain of \$0.5 million and \$0.9 million, respectively, on trading securities.

5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, excluding the assets and liabilities of consolidated sponsored investment products and the consolidated investment product, which are separately discussed in Note 13, as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 by fair value hierarchy level were as follows:

June 30, 2016

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
(\$ in thousands)				
Assets				
Cash equivalents	\$121,552	\$ -	-\$ -	\$121,552
Marketable securities trading:				
Sponsored funds	66,465			66,465
Equity securities	10,200			10,200
Marketable securities available-for-sale:				
Sponsored closed-end funds	3,569			3,569
Other investments:				
Nonqualified retirement plan assets	5,430			5,430
Total assets measured at fair value	\$207,216	\$ -	_\$ -	\$207,216

Table of Contents

December 31, 2015

	Level 1	Level	2 Level	3 Total
(\$ in thousands)				
Assets				
Cash equivalents	\$54,772	\$	_ \$	-\$ 54,772
Marketable securities trading:				
Sponsored funds	29,331		_	29,331
Equity securities	9,168			9,168
Marketable securities available-for-sale:				
Sponsored closed-end funds	2,997			2,997
Other investments				
Nonqualified retirement plan assets	5,310			5,310
Total assets measured at fair value	\$101,578	\$	_\$	-\$101,578

The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for the Company's assets measured at fair value: Cash equivalents represent investments in money market funds. Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are valued using published net asset values and are classified as Level 1.

Sponsored funds represent investments in open-end mutual funds, variable insurance funds and closed-end funds for which the Company acts as the investment manager. The fair value of open-end mutual funds and variable insurance funds is determined based on their published net asset values and are categorized as Level 1. The fair value of closed-end funds is determined based on the official closing price on the exchange on which they are traded and are categorized as Level 1.

Equity securities include securities traded on active markets and are valued at the official closing price (typically last sale or bid) on the exchange on which the securities are primarily traded and are categorized as Level 1.

Nonqualified retirement plan assets represent mutual funds within a nonqualified retirement plan whose fair value is determined based on their published net asset value and are categorized as Level 1.

Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities equal or approximate fair value based on the short-term nature of these instruments.

Transfers into and out of levels are reflected when (1) significant inputs used for the fair value measurement, including market inputs or performance attributes, become observable or unobservable, (2) when the Company determines it has the ability, or no longer has the ability, to redeem, in the near term, certain investments that the Company values using a net asset value, or (3) if the book value no longer represents fair value. There were no transfers between levels during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015.

6. Equity Transactions

During the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company repurchased 732,713 and 212,588 common shares, respectively, at a weighted average price of \$83.12 and \$131.67 per share, respectively, for a total cost, including fees and expenses, of approximately \$62.1 million and \$28.0 million, respectively. The shares repurchased of 732,713 during the six months ended June 30, 2016 included 556,509 shares repurchased pursuant to a tender offer that was completed in the second quarter of 2016. The shares were repurchased at a price of \$82.50 for an aggregate cost of \$47.1 million, including fees and expenses related to the tender offer. The shares repurchased under the tender offer were retired by the Company and \$47.1 million was recorded as Additional Paid-in-Capital in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheet.

Excluding shares repurchased under the tender offer described above, the Company has repurchased a total of 1,390,348 shares of common stock at a weighted average price of \$124.17 per share plus transaction costs for a total cost of \$172.7 million under its share repurchase program. At June 30, 2016, there were 1,309,652 shares of common stock available to repurchase under the Company's current share repurchase program.

Table of Contents

The Board of Directors declared cash dividends of \$0.45 per share in each of the first two quarters of 2016 and 2015. Total dividends declared were \$7.5 million and \$8.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Dividends declared in the second quarter of 2016 will be paid on August 12, 2016 to all shareholders of record on July 29, 2016.

7. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

(\$ in thousands)	Unrealized Gains and (Losses) on Securities Available-for Sale	(Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments	
Balance December 31, 2015	\$ (465) {	\$ (569)
Unrealized net gains on securities available-for-sale, net of tax of (\$171)	281	_		
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of (\$348)		4	569	
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income	_	-	_	
Net current-period other comprehensive income	281		569	
Balance June 30, 2016	\$ (184) 3	\$ —	
	Unrealized			
	Gains	I	Foreign	
	and (Losses)		Currency	
	on Securities	7	Translatio	on
	Available-for	r- /	Adjustme	nts
	Sale			
(\$ in thousands)	ф. (10 7		t /105	,
Balance December 31, 2014	\$ (107) 3	\$ (135)
Unrealized net losses on securities available-for-sale, net of tax of \$61	(99) -	(320	`
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of \$195 Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income		((320	,
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive meditic		_		
Net current-period other comprehensive loss	(99) ((320)

8. Stock-based Compensation

The Company has an Amended and Restated Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (the "Plan") under which officers, employees and directors may be granted equity-based awards, including restricted stock units ("RSUs"), stock options and unrestricted shares of common stock. On May 25, 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved an amendment to the Plan which increased the number of shares of common stock available under the Plan by 600,000, bringing the total number of authorized shares to 2,400,000. At June 30, 2016, 767,213 shares of common stock remained available for issuance of the 2,400,000 shares that were reserved for issuance under the Plan.

Each RSU entitles the holder to one share of common stock when the restriction expires. RSUs generally have a term of one to three years and may be time-vested or performance-contingent. The fair value of each RSU is estimated using the intrinsic value method, which is based on the fair market value price on the date of grant unless it contains a

performance metric that is considered a market condition. RSUs that contain a market condition are valued using a simulation valuation model. Shares that are issued upon exercise of stock options and vesting of RSUs are newly issued shares from the Plan and are not issued from treasury stock. Stock options generally cliff vest after three years and have a contractual life of 10 years. Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant.

Table of Contents

Restricted Stock Units

RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:

		Weighted
	Number	Average
	of Shares	Grant Date
		Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2015	191,617	\$ 156.66
Granted	149,989	\$ 75.22
Forfeited	(1,193)	\$ 127.42
Settled	(50,773)	\$ 170.75
Outstanding at June 30, 2016	289,640	\$ 112.14

For the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, a total of 17,333 and 35,486 RSUs, respectively, were withheld by the Company as a result of net share settlements to settle minimum employee tax withholding obligations. The Company paid \$1.3 million and \$4.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, in minimum employee tax withholding obligations related to RSUs withheld. These net share settlements had the effect of share repurchases by the Company as they reduced the number of shares that would have been otherwise issued as a result of the vesting.

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company granted 33,244 RSUs which contain performance based metrics in addition to a service condition. The performance metrics are based on the Company's growth in operating income, as adjusted, relative to peers, over a one-year period and total shareholder return ("TSR") relative to peers over a three-year period. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, total stock-based compensation expense included \$0.1 million for these performance contingent RSUs.

The Company recognized total stock compensation expense of \$3.4 million and \$6.7 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and \$3.4 million and \$6.4 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. As of June 30, 2016, unamortized stock-based compensation expense for unvested RSUs was \$17.6 million, with a weighted-average remaining amortization period of 1.8 years.

Stock Options

Stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2016 is summarized as follows:

	Number of Shares	A	eighted verage kercise Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2015	156,636	\$	18.78
Granted		\$	_
Exercised	(11,417)	\$	34.97
Forfeited		\$	_
Outstanding at June 30, 2016	145,219	\$	17.51

9. Restructuring and Severance

The Company incurred \$2.4 million in restructuring and severance costs during the three months ended June 30, 2016. Approximately \$2.0 million was related to severance costs, associated with a reduction in headcount, and \$0.4 million related to future lease obligations and leasehold improvements for vacated office space. Total unpaid severance and related charges as of June 30, 2016 was \$2.1 million.

10. Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised

Table of Contents

or converted into common stock. For the calculation of diluted EPS, the basic weighted-average number of shares is increased by the dilutive effect of RSUs and common stock options using the treasury stock method. The computation of basic and diluted EPS is as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Six Montl June 30,	ns Ended
	2016	2015	2016	2015
(\$ in thousands, except per share amounts)				
Net Income	\$8,700	\$9,012	\$20,570	\$28,737
Noncontrolling interests	(612)	765	(119)	382
Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders	\$8,088	\$9,777	\$20,451	\$29,119
Shares (in thousands):				
Basic: Weighted-average number of shares outstanding	8,170	8,889	8,257	8,927
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversion of dilutive instruments	144	148	153	167
Diluted: Weighted-average number of shares outstanding	8,314	9,037	8,410	9,094
Earnings per Share—Basic	\$0.99	\$1.10	\$2.48	\$3.26
Earnings per Share—Diluted	\$0.97	\$1.08	\$2.43	\$3.20

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, there were 6,159 and 10,195 instruments, respectively, excluded from the above computations of weighted-average shares for diluted EPS, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, there were 0 and 3,043 instruments, respectively, excluded from the above computations of weighted-average shares for diluted EPS, because the effect would be anti-dilutive.

11. Income Taxes

In calculating the provision for income taxes, the Company uses an estimate of the annual effective tax rate based upon the facts and circumstances at each interim period. On a quarterly basis, the estimated annual effective tax rate is adjusted, as appropriate, based upon changes in facts and circumstances, if any, as compared to those forecasted at the beginning of the fiscal year and each interim period thereafter.

The provision for income taxes reflected U.S. federal, state and local taxes at an estimated effective tax rate of 39.9% and 39.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies Legal Matters

The Company is regularly involved in litigation and arbitration as well as examinations, inquiries and investigations by various regulatory bodies, including the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), involving its compliance with, among other things, securities laws, client investment guidelines, laws governing the activities of broker-dealers and other laws and regulations affecting its products and other activities. Legal and regulatory matters of this nature involve or may involve but are not limited to the Company's activities as an employer, issuer of securities, investor, investment adviser, broker-dealer or taxpayer. In addition, in the normal course of business, the Company discusses matters with its regulators raised during regulatory examinations or is otherwise subject to their inquiry. These matters could result in censures, fines, penalties or other sanctions.

The Company accrues for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the determination as to whether a loss is reasonably estimable. In addition, in the event the Company determines that a loss is not probable, but is reasonably possible, and it becomes possible to develop what the Company believes to be a reasonable range of possible loss, then the Company will include disclosures related to such matter as appropriate and

in compliance with ASC 450, Loss Contingencies. The disclosures, accruals or estimates, if any, resulting from the foregoing analysis are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter. Based on information currently available, available insurance coverage and

Table of Contents

established reserves, the Company believes that the outcomes of its legal and regulatory proceedings are not likely, either individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or its consolidated financial condition. However, in the event of unexpected subsequent developments and given the inherent unpredictability of these legal and regulatory matters, the Company can provide no assurance that its assessment of any claim, dispute, regulatory examination or investigation or other legal matter will reflect the ultimate outcome and an adverse outcome in certain matters could, from time to time, have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations or cash flows in particular quarterly or annual periods.

In re Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Securities Litigation; formerly Tom Cummins v. Virtus Investment Partners Inc. et al

On February 20, 2015, a putative class action complaint alleging violations of certain provisions of the federal securities laws was filed by an individual shareholder against the Company and certain of the Company's current officers (the "defendants") in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court"). On April 21, 2015, three plaintiffs, including the original plaintiff, filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff and, on June 9, 2015, the Court appointed Arkansas Teachers Retirement System lead plaintiff. On August 21, 2015, plaintiff filed a Consolidated Class Action Complaint (the "Consolidated Complaint") amending the originally filed complaint, which was purportedly filed on behalf of all purchasers of the Company's common stock between January 25, 2013 and May 11, 2015 (the "Class Period"). The Consolidated Complaint alleges that, during the Class Period, the defendants disseminated materially false and misleading statements and concealed material adverse facts relating to certain funds formerly subadvised by F-Squared Investments Inc. ("F-Squared"). The Consolidated Complaint alleges claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiff seeks to recover unspecified damages. A motion to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint was filed on behalf of the Company and the other defendants on October 21, 2015. On July 1, 2016, the Court entered an opinion and order granting in part, and denying in part, the motion to dismiss, narrowing Plaintiff's claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and dismissing one of the defendants from the suit. The remaining defendants' Answer to the Consolidated Complaint was filed on August 5, 2016. The Company believes that the suit is without merit and intends to defend it vigorously. The Company believes that there is not a material loss that is probable and reasonably estimable related to this claim.

Mark Youngers v. Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. et al

On May 8, 2015, a putative class action complaint alleging violations of certain provisions of the federal securities laws was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California (the "District Court") by an individual who alleges he is a former shareholder of one of the Virtus mutual funds formerly subadvised by F-Squared and formerly known as the AlphaSector Funds. The complaint alleges claims against the Company, certain of the Company's officers and affiliates, and certain other parties (the "defendants"). The complaint was purportedly filed on behalf of purchasers of the AlphaSector Funds between May 8, 2010 and December 22, 2014, inclusive (the "Class Period"). The complaint alleges that, during the Class Period, the defendants disseminated materially false and misleading statements and concealed or omitted material facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading. On June 7, 2015, a group of three individuals, including the original plaintiff, filed a motion to be appointed lead plaintiff and on July 27, 2015, the District Court appointed movants as lead plaintiff. On October 1, 2015, plaintiff filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint which, among other things, added a derivative claim for breach of fiduciary duty on behalf of Virtus Opportunities Trust. On October 19, 2015, the District Court entered an order transferring the action to the Southern District of New York (the "Court"). On January 4, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint. A motion to dismiss was filed on behalf of the Company and affiliated defendants on February 1, 2016. On July 1, 2016, the Court entered an opinion and order granting in part, and denying in part, the motion to dismiss. The Court dismissed four causes of action entirely and a fifth cause of action with respect to a portion of the Class Period. The Court also dismissed all claims against ten defendants named in the Complaint. The

Court held that Plaintiff's may pursue certain securities claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Section 12 of the Securities Act of 1933. The Answer to the Second Amended Complaint was filed on August 5, 2016. The defendants intend to file a motion to certify an interlocutory appeal of the July 1, 2016 order to the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit on or before August 26, 2016. Oral argument on the motion is scheduled for October 7, 2016. The Company believes that the suit has no basis in law or fact and intends to defend it vigorously. The Company believes that there is not a material loss that is probable and reasonably estimable related to this claim.

Table of Contents

13. Consolidation

Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products

As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Company consolidated 18 and 12 sponsored investment products, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company consolidated 11 additional sponsored investment products and deconsolidated five sponsored investment products in which it no longer held a majority voting interest.

Consolidated sponsored investment products that are voting interest entities ("VOEs") are funds in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. Consolidated sponsored investment products are typically consolidated when the Company makes an initial investment in a newly launched fund as the Company typically owns a majority of the voting interest and are deconsolidated when the Company redeems its investment or its voting interests decrease to a minority percentage.

The consolidated sponsored investment product is a global fund that is considered a variable interest entity ("VIE") for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company determined that it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE as the Company has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity and has the obligation to absorb losses, or the rights to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. As of June 30, 2016, the Company consolidated one sponsored investment product that was a VIE.

The following table presents the balances of the consolidated sponsored investment products that were reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

	As of			
	June 30, 2016		December 31, 201	
	VOEs	VIE	VOEs	VIE
(\$ in thousands)				
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$1,209	\$891	\$11,408	\$458
Total investments	91,669	38,727	291,247	32,088
All other assets	2,244	350	8,281	268
Total liabilities	(2,753) (320	(14,948) (439)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests	(7,825) (19,320)	(61,236) (12,628)
The Company's net interests in consolidated sponsored investment product	s \$84,544	4 \$20,328	\$234,752	\$19,747

Table of Contents

Fair Value Measurements

The assets and liabilities of the consolidated sponsored investment products measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 by fair value hierarchy level were as follows:

As of June 30, 2016				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
(\$ in thousands)				
Assets				
Debt securities	\$	\$94,996	\$ 89	\$95,085
Equity securities	26,931	8,380		35,311
Derivatives	_		_	
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value	\$26,931	\$103,376	\$ 89	\$130,396
Liabilities				
Derivatives	\$	\$136	\$ —	\$136
Short sales	715			715
Total Liabilities Measured at Fair Value	\$715	\$136	\$ —	\$851
As of December 31, 2015				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level	3 Total
(\$ in thousands)				
Assets				
Debt securities	\$—	\$151,156	5 \$1,397	\$152,553
Equity securities	162,986	7,796		170,782
Derivatives	33	738		771
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value	\$163,019	9 \$159,690	\$1,397	\$324,106
Liabilities				
Derivatives	\$128	\$844	\$ —	\$972
Short sales	5,334	75	_	5,409
Total Liabilities Measured at Fair Value	\$5,462	\$919	\$—	\$6,381

The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for the assets and liabilities of the Company's consolidated sponsored investment products measured at fair value.

Investments of consolidated sponsored investment products represent the underlying debt, equity and other securities held in sponsored products which are consolidated by the Company. Equity securities are valued at the official closing price on the exchange on which the securities are traded and are categorized within Level 1. Level 2 investments include most debt securities, which are valued based on quotations received from independent pricing services or from dealers who make markets in such securities and certain equity securities, including non-US securities, for which closing prices are not readily available or are deemed to not reflect readily available market prices and are valued using an independent pricing service. Pricing services do not provide pricing for all securities, and therefore indicative bids from dealers are utilized, which are based on pricing models used by market makers in the security and are also included within Level 2. Level 3 investments include debt securities that are not widely traded, are illiquid or are priced by dealers based on pricing models used by market makers in the security.

The following table is a reconciliation of assets of consolidated sponsored investment products for Level 3 investments for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value.

Table of Contents

	Six Months Ended June 30,		
(\$ in thousands)	2016	2015	
Level 3 Debt securities (a)			
Balance at beginning of period	\$1,397	\$1,065	,
Realized losses, net	(356)		
Purchases	151		
Paydowns	(5)	(3)
Sales	(1,449)		
Transferred to Level 2		(162)
Transfers from Level 2	1		
Change in unrealized gain, net	350	(48)
Balance at end of period	\$89	\$852	

None of the securities reflected in the table were internally fair valued at June 30, 2016 or June 30, 2015. The (a) investments that are categorized as Level 3 were valued utilizing third party pricing information without adjustment. Such valuations are based on unobservable inputs.

For the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, securities held by consolidated sponsored investment products with an end of period value of \$0.1 million and \$14.6 million, respectively, were transferred from Level 2 to Level 1 because certain non-U.S. securities quoted market prices were no longer adjusted based on third-party factors derived from model-based valuation techniques for which the significant assumptions were observable in the market. For the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, securities held by consolidated sponsored investment products with an end of period value of \$4.1 million and \$0.0 million, respectively, were transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 because certain non-U.S. securities quoted market prices were adjusted based on third-party factors derived from model-based valuation techniques for which the significant assumptions were observable in the market.

Derivatives

The Company has certain consolidated sponsored investment products which include derivative instruments as part of their investment strategies. These derivatives may include futures contracts, options contracts and forward contracts. Derivative instruments in an asset position are classified as other assets of consolidated sponsored investment products in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. Derivative instruments in a liability position are classified as liabilities of consolidated sponsored investment products within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The change in fair value of such derivatives is recorded in realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments of consolidated sponsored investment products, net, in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. In connection with entering into these derivative contracts, these funds may be required to pledge to the broker an amount of cash equal to the "initial margin" requirements that varies based on the type of derivative. The cash pledged or on deposit is recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Company as cash pledged or on deposit of consolidated sponsored investment products. The fair value of such derivatives at June 30, 2016 and 2015 was immaterial.

Short Sales

Some of the Company's consolidated sponsored investment products may engage in short sales, which are transactions in which a security is sold which is not owned or is owned but there is no intention to deliver, in anticipation that the price of the security will decline. Short sales are recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within other liabilities of consolidated sponsored investment products.

Consolidated Investment Product

During 2015, the Company contributed \$40.0 million in the form of preference shares to a special purpose entity ("SPE") that was created specifically to accumulate bank loan assets for securitization as a CLO to be managed by its Newfleet affiliate. During the warehouse phase of the CLO, the SPE entered into a \$160.0 million three-year term financing transaction with a bank lending counterparty (the "Financing Facility"). At December 31, 2015, \$152.6 million was

Table of Contents

outstanding under the Financing Facility. The warehouse debt was paid off in June 2016 in connection with the launch of the Newfleet CLO 2016-1 (the "CLO") discussed below.

On June 9, 2016, the SPE issued the CLO with a par value of \$356.3 million consisting of six classes of senior secured floating rate notes loans with a par value of \$320.0 million and subordinated notes with a par value of \$36.3 million. Upon the launch of the CLO, the warehousing debt was repaid by the SPE and the Company redeemed its preference shares while simultaneously making a \$36.3 million investment in the CLO's subordinated notes at par.

Bank loan investments of \$344.9 million, which comprise the majority of the CLO portfolio collateral, are senior secured corporate loans from a variety of industries. Bank loan investments mature at various dates between 2018 and 2023, pay interest at LIBOR plus a spread of up to 7.5%, and typically range in S&P credit rating categories from BBB to CCC+. At June 30, 2016, the unpaid principal balance exceeded the fair value of the senior bank loans by approximately \$3.8 million. No collateral assets were in default as of June 30, 2016.

The CLO has note obligations that bear interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a pre-defined spread ranging from 1.0% to 8.75%. The principal amounts outstanding of the note obligations issued by the CLO mature in April 2028. The CLO may elect to reinvest any prepayments received on bank loan investments prior to April 2020. Any subsequent prepayments received must be used to pay down the note obligations.

The CLO is a VIE and the Company consolidates the CLO's assets and liabilities as a consolidated investment product within its financial statements as it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The Company has determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE as it has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the entity and has the obligation to absorb losses, or the rights to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted ASU 2014-13 effective January 1, 2016. This guidance requires reporting entities to use the more observable of the fair value of the financial assets or the financial liabilities to measure the financial assets and the financial liabilities of a CFE when a CFE is initially consolidated. The Company has determined that the fair value of the financial assets of the CFE is more observable than the fair value of the financial liabilities of the CFE. The Company has elected the measurement alternative for its consolidated investment product, and the Company's subsequent earnings from the consolidated investment product will reflect changes in value of the Company's own economic interest in the consolidated investment product.

The following table presents the balances of the consolidated investment product that were reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

	As of	
	June 30,	December
	2016	31, 2015
(\$ in thousands)		
Total cash equivalents	\$91,044	\$8,297
Total investments	344,886	199,485
Other assets	6,078	1,467
Debt	_	(152,597)
Notes payable	(319,716)	_
Securities purchased payable and other liabilities	(94,790)	(18,487)
The Company's net interests in the consolidated investment product	\$27,502	\$38,165

Table of Contents

Fair Value Measurements of Consolidated Investment Product

The assets and liabilities of the consolidated investment product measured at fair value on a recurring basis by fair value hierarchy level were as follows:

As of June 30, 2016:

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3 Total
(\$ in thousands)			
Assets			
Cash equivalents	\$91,044	4 \$—	\$ -\$91,044
Bank loans	_	344,886	— 344,886
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value	\$91,044	1 \$344,886	\$435,930
Liabilities			
Notes payable	\$ —	\$319,716	\$ \$ -\$319,716
Total Liabilities Measured at Fair Valu	ue \$—	\$319,716	\$ \$ -\$319,716
As of December 31, 2015:			
]	Level 1 Le	vel 2 Le	vel 3 Total
(\$ in thousands)			
Assets			
Cash equivalents	\$8,297 \$-	- \$	-\$8,297
Bank loans -	— 19	9,485 —	199,485
Total Assets Measured at Fair Value S	\$8,297 \$1	99,485 \$	-\$207,782

The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for the assets and liabilities of the Company's consolidated investment product measured at fair value:

Cash equivalents represent investments in money market funds. Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are valued using published net asset values and are classified as Level 1.

Bank loans represent the underlying debt securities held in the sponsored product which are consolidated by the Company. Bank loan investments include debt securities, which are valued based on quotations received from an independent pricing service. Pricing services do not provide pricing for all securities, and therefore indicative bids from dealers are utilized, which are based on pricing models used by market makers in the security and are also included within Level 2.

Notes payable represents notes issued by the CLO and are measured using the measurement alternative in ASU 2014-13.

The estimated fair value of debt at December 31, 2015, which had a variable interest rate, approximated its carrying value. The securities purchase payable at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 approximated fair value due to the short-term nature of the instruments.

Table of Contents

Consolidating Financial Data

The following tables reflect the impact of the consolidated sponsored investment products and consolidated investment product in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

As of June 30, 2016

	Balance Before Consolidation of Investment Products	Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products-VO	Sponsored Investment	Product -	Eliminations and Adjustments	Balances as Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She	d
(\$ in thousands)	4.55.533	4.1.2 00	Φ 001	01011	Φ.	4.2.40.67.6	
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$ 155,532	\$ 1,209	\$ 891	\$ 91,044	\$— (122.250	\$ 248,676	
Total investments	223,994	91,669	38,727	344,886		567,018	
All other assets	150,860	2,245	350	6,077		159,309	
Total assets	\$ 530,386	\$ 95,123	\$ 39,968	\$ 442,007		\$ 975,003	
Total liabilities	\$ 64,280	\$ 2,814	\$ 374	\$ 442,007		\$481,752	
Redeemable noncontrolling interest		_		_	27,145	27,145	
Equity attributable to stockholders of the Company	466,273	92,309	39,594	_	(131,903	466,273	
Non-redeemable noncontrolling interest	(167)	<u> </u>	_	_	_	(167)
Total liabilities and equity As of December 31, 2015	\$ 530,386	\$ 95,123	\$ 39,968	\$ 442,007	\$ (132,481	\$ 975,003	
	Balance Before Consolidation of Investment Products	Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products-VO	Sponsored Investment	Product -	Ed Eliminations and Adjustments	Balances as Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She	d
(\$ in thousands)	Before Consolidation of Investment Products	Sponsored Investment Products-VO	Sponsored Investment Broduct-VI	Product - VIE	Adjustments	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She	d
Total cash and cash equivalents	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408	Sponsored Investment Broduct-VI	Product - VIE * 8,297	Adjustments \$—	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$ 107,737	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247	Sponsored Investment H3roduct-VI \$ 458 32,088	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485	\$— (292,409	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$107,737 579,558	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247 8,281	Sponsored Investment H8roduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467	\$— (292,409 (255	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$107,737 579,558	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets Total assets	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673 \$ 599,394	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247 8,281 \$ 310,936	Sponsored Investment ERroduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268 \$ 32,814	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467 \$ 209,249	\$— (292,409 (255 \$ (292,664	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$107,737 (a) 579,558 (a) 172,434 (b) \$859,729	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets Total assets Total liabilities	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247 8,281	Sponsored Investment H8roduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467	\$— (292,409 (255 \$ (292,664 \$ (255	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$ 107,737) 579,558) 172,434) \$ 859,729) \$ 276,408	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets Total assets Total liabilities Redeemable noncontrolling interest	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673 \$ 599,394 \$ 89,937	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247 8,281 \$ 310,936	Sponsored Investment ERroduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268 \$ 32,814	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467 \$ 209,249	\$— (292,409 (255 \$ (292,664	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$107,737 (a) 579,558 (a) 172,434 (b) \$859,729	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets Total assets Total liabilities Redeemable noncontrolling interest Equity attributable to stockholders of the Company	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673 \$ 599,394 \$ 89,937	Sponsored Investment Products-VO \$ 11,408 291,247 8,281 \$ 310,936	Sponsored Investment ERroduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268 \$ 32,814	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467 \$ 209,249	\$— (292,409 (255 \$ (292,664 \$ (255 73,864	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$ 107,737) 579,558) 172,434) \$ 859,729) \$ 276,408	d
Total cash and cash equivalents Total investments All other assets Total assets Total liabilities Redeemable noncontrolling interest Equity attributable to stockholders of	Before Consolidation of Investment Products \$ 87,574 349,147 162,673 \$ 599,394 \$ 89,937	\$ 11,408 291,247 8,281 \$ 310,936 \$ 15,181	Sponsored Investment H3roduct-VI \$ 458 32,088 268 \$ 32,814 \$ 461 —	Product - VIE \$ 8,297 199,485 1,467 \$ 209,249 \$ 171,084	\$— (292,409 (255 \$ (292,664 \$ (255 73,864	Reported in Condensed (a)Consolidate Balance She \$ 107,737 (additional property of the state of	d

⁽a) Adjustments include the elimination of intercompany transactions between the Company, its consolidated sponsored investment products and consolidated investment product, consisting primarily of the elimination of the Company's investments held in the consolidated sponsored investment product or consolidated investment product

and the recording of any noncontrolling interest.

Table of Contents

The following table reflects the impact of the consolidated sponsored investment products and consolidated investment products in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2016

	Balance Before Consolidation of Investment Products	Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products-VO	Sponsored Investment	Product -	Eliminations	Balances as Reported in Condensed Consolidated (a\$tatement of Operations
(\$ in thousands)						
Total operating revenues	\$ 80,058	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 27	\$ 80,085
Total operating expenses	66,723	556	89	3,947	27	71,342
Operating income (loss)	13,335	(556)	(89)	(3,947)	_	8,743
Total other non-operating income, net	840	3,947	845	3,947	(3,535)	6,044
Income before income taxes	14,175	3,391	756		(3,535)	14,787
Income taxes	6,087				_	6,087
Net income	8,088	3,391	756		(3,535)	8,700
Noncontrolling interests	_				(612)	(612)
Net income attributable to common stockholders	\$ 8,088	\$ 3,391	\$ 756	\$ —	\$ (4,147)	\$ 8,088

For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

	Balance Before Consolidation of Investment Products	on	Sponsore Investme	ed ent	dConsolida Sponsored Investmen DEsoduct-V	l nt	Product -	Eliminations ent and	(Reported in Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
(\$ in thousands)	4.00.070		Φ.		Φ.		Φ.	. (205		.
Total operating revenues	\$ 100,052		\$ —		\$ —		\$ -	- \$ (396)		\$ 99,656
Total operating expenses	82,491		43		1,310			(396)	1	83,448
Operating income (loss)	17,561		(43)	(1,310)				16,208
Total other non-operating income, net	(127))	101		(245)		898		627
Income (loss) before income taxes	17,434		58		(1,555)	_	898		16,835
Income taxes	7,823				_		_			7,823
Net income (loss)	9,611		58		(1,555)	_	898		9,012
Noncontrolling interests	166				_		_	599		765
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders	\$ 9,777		\$ 58		\$ (1,555)	\$ -	-\$ 1,497		\$ 9,777

Adjustments include the elimination of intercompany transactions between the Company, its consolidated sponsored investment products and consolidated investment product, consisting primarily of the elimination of the Company's investments held in the consolidated sponsored investment product or consolidated investment product and the recording of any noncontrolling interest.

Table of Contents

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016

	Balance Before Consolidation of Investment Products	ore n Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products-VO	Investment Product-VI	Product -	ed Elimination and Adjustmen		Balances as Reported in Condensed Consolidated (a)tatement of Operations	
(\$ in thousands) Total operating revenues Total operating expenses Operating income (loss)	\$ 160,562 133,080 27,482	\$ — 1,822 (1,822)	\$ — 164 (164)	\$ — 4,003 (4,003)	\$ (182 (182)	\$ 160,380 138,887 21,493	
Total other non-operating income, net	6,612	6,678	1,370	6,508	(8,448)	12,720	
Income before income taxes Income taxes Net income Noncontrolling interests	34,094 13,643 20,451	4,856 — 4,856 —	1,206 — 1,206 —	2,505 — 2,505 —	(8,448 — (8,448 (119		34,213 13,643 20,570 (119)	
Net income attributable to common stockholders	\$ 20,451	\$ 4,856	\$ 1,206	\$ 2,505	\$ (8,567)	\$ 20,451	
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2	2015							
(\$ in thousands)	Balance Before Consolidation Consolidated of Sponsored Investment Investment Products Products-VOEs Consolidate Consolidated Sponsored Investment and Investment Product - Adjustments (as product-VIEVIE) Products Products-VOEs							
Total operating revenues	\$ 204,284	\$ —	\$ —	\$ -	- \$ (797)	\$ 203,487	
Total operating expenses	160,962	80	2,492		(797)	162,737	
Operating income (loss)	43,322	() (2,492) —	_		40,750	
Total other non-operating income, no		363	4,407		(2,380		6,678	
Income before income taxes Income taxes	47,610	283	1,915	_	(2,380)	47,428 18,691	
Net income	18,691 28,919	283	 1,915		(2,380)	28,737	
Noncontrolling interests	200				182	,	382	
Net income attributable to common stockholders	\$ 29,119	\$ 283	\$ 1,915	\$ -	- \$ (2,198)	\$ 29,119	

Adjustments include the elimination of intercompany transactions between the Company, its consolidated sponsored investment products and consolidated investment product, consisting primarily of the elimination of the Company's investments held in the consolidated sponsored investment product or consolidated investment product and the recording of any noncontrolling interest.

Nonconsolidated VIEs

The Company has interests in certain entities that are VIEs that the Company does not consolidate as it is not the primary beneficiary of those entities. The Company is not the primary beneficiary as its interest in the entities does not

provide the Company with the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entities economic performance. At June 30, 2016, the carrying value and maximum risk of loss related to these VIEs was \$6.1 million.

Certain of the Company's affiliates serve as the collateral manager for other collateralized loan and

Table of Contents

collateralized bond obligations (collectively, "CDOs"). The assets and liabilities of these CDOs reside in bankruptcy remote, special purpose entities in which the Company has no ownership in, nor holds any notes issued by, the CDOs and provides neither recourse nor guarantees. Accordingly, the Company's financial exposure to these CDOs is limited only to the collateral investment management fees it earns which the Company has concluded are "at-market" fees. These CDOs are not consolidated as the Company does not have a variable interest in these CDOs.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements that are, or may be considered to be, forward-looking statements within the meaning of The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("the Exchange Act"). All statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs or expectations, are forward-looking statements. These statements may be identified by such forward-looking terminology as "expect," "estimate," "plan," "intend," "believe," "may," "will," "should," "could," "anticipate," "forecast," "project," "predict," "would "guarantee," "assume," "likely," "continue," "target" or similar statements or variations of such terms.

Our forward-looking statements are based on a series of expectations, assumptions and projections about our Company and the markets in which we operate. Our financial statements are not guarantees of future results or performance and involve substantial risks and uncertainty, including assumptions and projections concerning our assets under management, net cash inflows and outflows, operating cash flows and future credit facilities, for all future periods. All of our statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q only.

We can give no assurance that such expectations or forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Actual results may differ materially. We do not undertake or plan to update or revise any such forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in plans, assumptions, estimates or projections, or other circumstances occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, even if such results, changes or circumstances make it clear that any forward-looking information will not be realized. If there are any future public statements or disclosures by us which modify or impact any of the forward-looking statements contained in or accompanying this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, such statements or disclosures will be deemed to modify or supersede such statements in this Quarterly Report.

Our business and our forward-looking statements involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties, including those discussed under "Risk Factors," and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as the following risks and uncertainties:

(a) any reduction in our assets under management; (b) the withdrawal, renegotiation or termination of investment advisory agreements; (c) damage to our reputation; (d) failure to comply with investment guidelines or other contractual requirements; (e) the inability to attract and retain key personnel; (f) the competition we face in our business; (g) adverse regulatory and legal developments; (h) unfavorable changes in tax laws or limitations; (i) adverse developments, or changes in our relationships with, unaffiliated subadvisers; (j) changes in key distribution relationships; (k) interruptions in service or failure to provide service by third-party service providers; (l) volatility associated with our common stock; (m) civil litigation and government investigations or proceedings; (n) the risk of capital loss associated with our investments; (o) the inability to make quarterly distributions; (p) the lack of availability of required and necessary capital on satisfactory terms; (q) liabilities and losses not covered by insurance; (r) strategic transactions and other risks and uncertainties described in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

Certain other factors which may impact our continuing operations, prospects, financial results and liquidity or which may cause actual results to differ from such forward-looking statements are discussed or included in the Company's periodic reports filed with the SEC and are available on our website at www.virtus.com under "Investor Relations." You are urged to carefully consider all such factors.

Overview

We are a provider of investment management and related services to individuals and institutions. We use a multi-manager, multi-style approach, offering investment strategies from affiliated managers and unaffiliated subadvisers, each having its own distinct investment style, autonomous investment process and individual brand. By offering a broad array of products, we believe we can appeal to a greater number of investors, which allows us to have offerings across market cycles through changes in investor preferences. Our earnings are primarily driven by asset-based fees charged for services relating to these various products including investment management, fund administration, distribution and shareholder services.

We offer investment strategies for individual and institutional investors in different product structures and through multiple distribution channels. Our investment strategies are available in a diverse range of styles and disciplines, managed by

Table of Contents

a collection of boutique investment managers, both affiliated and unaffiliated. We have offerings in various asset classes (domestic and international equity, fixed income and alternative), in all market capitalizations (large, mid and small), in different styles (growth, blend and value) and with various investment approaches (fundamental, quantitative and thematic). Our retail products include open-end mutual funds, closed-end funds, exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), variable insurance funds, Undertakings for Collective Investments in Transferable Securities ("UCITs"), and separately managed accounts. We also offer certain of our investment strategies to institutional clients.

We distribute our open-end funds and exchange traded funds principally through financial intermediaries. We have broad access in the retail market, with distribution partners that include national and regional broker-dealers, independent broker-dealers and registered investment advisors, banks and insurance companies. In many of these firms, we have a number of products that are on firms' preferred "recommended" lists and on fee-based advisory programs. Our sales efforts are supported by regional sales professionals, a national account relationship group and separate teams for exchange traded funds and our retirement and insurance products.

Our separately managed accounts are distributed through financial intermediaries and directly by teams at one of our affiliated managers. Our institutional distribution strategy is an affiliate-centric and coordinated model. Through relationships with consultants, our affiliates target key market segments, including foundations and endowments, corporate, public and private pension plans, structured products, and unaffiliated mutual funds.

Financial Highlights

Net income per diluted share was \$0.97 in the second quarter of 2016 compared to \$1.08 in the second quarter of 2015.

Total sales (inflows) were \$2.4 billion in the second quarter of 2016 compared to \$3.3 billion in the second quarter of 2015. Net flows were \$(2.2) billion in the second quarter of 2016 compared to \$(1.3) billion in the second quarter of 2015.

Assets under management were \$45.2 billion at June 30, 2016 compared to \$52.4 billion at June 30, 2015.

Assets Under Management

At June 30, 2016, we managed \$45.2 billion in total assets, representing a decrease of \$7.2 billion, or 13.8% from June 30, 2015 and a decrease of \$2.2 billion or 4.7% from December 31, 2015. The decrease in assets under management from December 31, 2015 was primarily due to net outflows of \$4.8 billion partially offset by market appreciation of \$2.8 billion. Approximately \$3.2 billion, or 68%, of the \$4.8 billion in net outflows during the six months ended June 30, 2016 were from the Virtus Emerging Markets Opportunities fund ("Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund") which had an organizational change at the fund's subadvisor. At June 30, 2016, assets under management in the Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund were \$7.1 billion.

Average assets under management, which generally correspond to our fee-earning asset levels, were \$45.2 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016, a decrease of \$9.8 billion, or 17.8%, from \$55.1 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The decrease in average assets under management compared to June 30, 2015 was due to the same reasons discussed above regarding total assets under management as well as a decrease in assets under management related to the Company's Trend Funds (formerly AlphaSector funds).

Operating Results

In the second quarter of 2016, total revenues decreased 19.6% to \$80.1 million from \$99.7 million in the second quarter of 2015. This decrease was primarily the result of a decrease in average assets under management. Operating income decreased by 46.1% from \$16.2 million in the second quarter of 2015 to \$8.7 million in the second quarter of

2016, primarily due to decreased revenues on lower levels of average assets under management partially offset by lower operating expenses. Results for the second quarter of 2016 include restructuring and severance costs of \$2.4 million, while the second quarter of 2015 included other operating expense of \$11.3 million for a loss contingency related to a regulatory matter that was settled and paid during 2015.

Table of Contents

Assets Under Management by Product

The following table summarizes our assets under management by product:

	As of June	30,	Change	
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%
(\$ in millions)				
Fund assets				
Open-end funds (1)	\$24,813.8	\$33,345.3	\$(8,531.5)	(25.6)%
Closed-end funds	6,959.6	6,901.0	58.6	0.8 %
Exchange traded funds	399.4	132.6	266.8	201.2 %
Total fund assets	32,172.8	40,378.9	(8,206.1)	(20.3)%
Separately managed accounts (2)	7,407.2	6,952.1	455.1	6.5 %
Total retail assets	39,580.0	47,331.0	(7,751.0)	(16.4)%
Total institutional assets (2)	5,589.7	5,070.0	519.7	10.3 %
Total Assets Under Management	\$45,169.7	\$52,401.0	\$(7,231.3)	(13.8)%
Average Assets Under Management	\$45,237.2	\$55,062.6	\$(9,825.4)	(17.8)%

⁽¹⁾ Includes assets under management of open-end mutual funds, UCITS and variable insurance funds.

⁽²⁾ Includes assets under management related to option strategies.

Table of Contents

Asset Flows by Product

The following table summarizes our asset flows by product:

The following table summarizes of		• 1		F. 4. 4 L	
	Three Mon	tns Ended		Ended June	
(h : '11'	June 30,	2015	30,	2015	
(\$ in millions)	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Open-End Funds (1)					
Beginning balance		\$35,317.8			
Inflows	1,351.9	2,619.5	3,545.3	5,633.7	
Outflows	(3,799.8)	(4,174.5)	(8,594.1)	(9,572.5)	
Net flows	(2,447.9)	(1,555.0)	(5,048.8)	(3,938.8)	
Market performance	887.5	(352.9)	1,183.4	(155.8)	
Other (2)	(161.8)	(64.6)	(202.9)	(74.3)	
Ending balance	\$24,813.8	\$33,345.3	\$24,813.8	\$33,345.3	
Closed-End Funds					
Beginning balance	\$6,543.6	\$7,288.0	\$6,222.3	\$7,581.4	
Inflows	_		_	_	
Outflows	(103.3)		(103.3)	_	
Net flows		_	` ,	_	
Market performance	481.7		903.0	(450.2)	
Other (2)	37.6			(230.2)	
Ending balance	\$6,959.6	\$6,901.0	\$6,959.6	\$6,901.0	
Exchange Traded Funds	Ψ0,232.0	\$0,701.0	Ψ0,232.0	ψ0,701.0	
Beginning balance	¢252 6	\$ —	¢240.9	\$ —	
2 2	\$353.6	ֆ— 67.4	\$340.8		
Inflows	52.8		115.1	67.4	
Outflows				(12.2)	
Net flows	32.0	55.2	60.5	55.2	
Market performance	17.4	,	3.8	(0.4)	
Other (2)		77.8	. ,	77.8	
Ending balance	\$399.4	\$132.6	\$399.4	\$132.6	
Separately Managed Accounts (3)					
Beginning balance	\$7,021.1	\$7,131.0	\$6,784.4	\$6,884.8	
Inflows	444.2	366.8	843.4	695.3	
Outflows	(314.6)	(342.2)	(678.9)	(697.5)	
Net flows	129.6	24.6	164.5	(2.2)	
Market performance	246.5	(65.5)	457.3	111.9	
Other (2)	10.0	(138.0)	1.0	(42.4)	
Ending balance	\$7,407.2	\$6,952.1	\$7,407.2	\$6,952.1	
Institutional Accounts (3)(4)		·	•	•	
Beginning balance	\$5,196.9	\$5,036.2	\$5,155.7	\$4,722.0	
Inflows	541.2	214.1	727.4	582.2	
Outflows				(234.5)	
Net flows	235.7	126.8	145.3	347.7	
Market performance	153.6		302.0	35.7	
Other (2)	3.5	,		(35.4)	
Ending balance	\$5,589.7	\$5,070.0	\$5,589.7	\$5,070.0	
Total	¢ 45 (51 °	¢ 5 4 772 0	¢ 47 205 2	¢ 5 6 700 4	
Beginning balance		\$54,773.0			
Inflows	2,390.1	3,267.8	5,231.2	6,978.6	
Outflows	(4,544.0)	(4,616.2)	(10,013.0)	(10,516.7)	

Net flows	(2,153.9) (1,348.4) (4,781.8) (3,538.1)
Market performance	1,786.7	(782.3) 2,849.5	(458.8)
Other (2)	(114.3) (241.3) (283.3) (304.5)
Ending balance	\$45,169.7	7 \$52,401.0	0 \$45,169.7	\$52,401.0	\mathbf{C}

Table of Contents

- (1) Includes assets under management of open-end mutual funds, UCITS and variable insurance funds.
 - Represents open-end and closed-end mutual fund distributions, net of reinvestments, net flows of cash management
- (2) strategies, net flows from non-sales related activities such as asset acquisitions/(dispositions), marketable securities investments/(withdrawals) and the impact on assets from the use of leverage.
- (3) Includes assets under management related to option strategies.
 - Includes assets under management related to structured products. Effective April 1, 2016, the issuance/(repayment)
- (4) of structured product notes are reported as inflows/(outflows). Prior to April 1, 2016, all changes in structured product AUM were reported as a component of Other.

The following table summarizes our assets under management by asset class:

	·		Change		% of Total		
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	
(\$ in millions)							
Asset Class							
Equity	\$26,207.3	\$31,908.8	\$(5,701.5)	(17.9)%	58.0 %	61.0 %	
Fixed income	15,450.2	16,010.8	(560.6)	(3.5)%	34.2 %	30.6 %	
Alternatives (1)	3,056.8	4,031.2	(974.4)	(24.2)%	6.8 %	7.5 %	
Other (2)	455.4	450.2	5.2	1.2 %	1.0 %	0.9 %	
Total	\$45,169.7	\$52,401.0	\$(7,231.3)	(13.8)%	100.0%	100.0%	

- (1) Consists of real estate securities, master-limited partnerships and other.
- (2) Consists of option strategies.

Average Assets Under Management and Average Basis Points

The following table summarizes the average assets under management and the average management fees earned in basis points:

•	Three Months Ended June 30,					
	Average Fees Grague Assets U	Inder Management				
	(expressed (\$\frac{1}{2}\text{ ibrasis lipoint})					
	2016 2015 2016	2015				
Products						
Open-End Funds (1)	49.4 49.2 \$ 25,537.7	\$ 34,852.2				
Closed-End Funds	65.4 66.9 6,659.9	7,256.5				
Exchange Traded Funds	36.2 8.9 371.9	103.9				
Separately Managed Accounts (2)	55.2 53.5 7,015.0	7,125.3				
Institutional Accounts (2)	36.2 35.7 5,223.9	5,054.8				
All Products	51.1 50.7 \$ 44,808.4	\$ 54,392.7				
	Six Months Ended June 30,					
	Average Feleveragre Assets U	Inder Management				
	(expressed (\$\frac{1}{2} loanishing in the state of	-				
	2016 2015 2016	2015				
Products						
Open-End Funds (1)	48.3 49.6 \$ 26,416.8	\$ 35,757.9				
Closed-End Funds	65.4 66.8 6,406.1	7,346.2				
Exchange Traded Funds	35.5 8.9 354.5	51.9				
Separately Managed Accounts (2)	55 7 53 8 6 891 7	6,985.8				
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	33.7 33.0 0,071.7	0,703.0				

All Products

50.4 51.1 \$ 45,237.2

\$ 55,062.6

Table of Contents

- (1) Includes assets under management of open-end mutual funds, UCITS and variable insurance funds.
- (2) Includes assets under management related to option strategies.

Average fees earned represent investment management fees net of fees paid to third-party service providers for investment management related services and less the impact of investment management fees earned from consolidated sponsored investment products divided by average net assets. Mutual fund and exchange traded fund fees are calculated based on average daily or weekly net assets. Separately managed account fees are calculated based on the end of the preceding or current quarter's asset values or on an average of month-end balances. Institutional account fees are calculated based on an average of month-end balances or current quarter's asset values or for our CLO's, based on the par value of the collateral assets. Average fees earned will vary based on several factors, including the asset mix and reimbursements to funds.

The average fee rate earned for the six months ended June 30, 2016 decreased by 0.7 basis point compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to a 1.3 basis point decrease in the open-end mutual fund fee rate. The decline in the open-end fund fee rate was primarily attributable to redemptions of higher fee-earning assets from June 30, 2015 to June 30, 2016. The average fee rate earned on exchange traded funds, separately managed accounts and institutional accounts increased in the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 as compared to the same period in 2015 primarily due to net flows into higher fee-earning assets.

Results of Operations

Summary Financial Data

	Three Mo	Three Months Ended June 30, S.				Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%
(\$ in thousands)								
Results of Operations								
Investment management fees	\$58,192	\$68,867	\$(10,675) (15.5)%	\$115,836	\$139,363	\$(23,527)	(16.9)%
Other revenue	21,893	30,789	(8,896) (28.9)%	44,544	64,124	(19,580)	(30.5)%
Total revenues	80,085	99,656	(19,571) (19.6)%	160,380	203,487	(43,107)	(21.2)%
Total operating expenses	71,342	83,448	(12,106) (14.5)%	138,887	162,737	(23,850)	(14.7)%
Operating income	8,743	16,208	(7,465) (46.1)%	21,493	40,750	(19,257)	(47.3)%
Other income, net	6,944	(2,652)	9,596	361.8 %	9,044	918	8,126	885.2 %
Interest (expense) income, net	(900)	3,279	(4,179) (127.4)%	3,676	5,760	(2,084)	(36.2)%
Income before income taxes	14,787	16,835	(2,048) (12.2)%	34,213	47,428	(13,215)	(27.9)%
Income tax expense	6,087	7,823	(1,736) (22.2)%	13,643	18,691	(5,048)	(27.0)%
Net income	8,700	9,012	(312) (3.5)%	20,570	28,737	(8,167)	(28.4)%
Noncontrolling interests	(612)	765	(1,377) (180.0)%	(119)	382	(501)	(131.2)%
Net income attributable to common stockholders	\$8,088	\$9,777	\$(1,689) (17.3)%	\$20,451	\$29,119	\$(8,668)	(29.8)%

Table of Contents

Revenues

Revenues by source are as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%
(\$ in thousands)								
Investment management fees								
Funds	\$43,760	\$54,913	\$(11,153)	(20.3)%	\$87,263	\$111,982	\$(24,719)	(22.1)%
Separately managed accounts	9,729	9,555	174	1.8 %	19,203	18,698	505	2.7 %
Institutional accounts	4,703	4,399	304	6.9 %	9,370	8,683	687	7.9 %
Total investment management fees	58,192	68,867	(10,675)	(15.5)%	115,836	139,363	(23,527)	(16.9)%
Distribution and service fees	12,167	17,635	(5,468)	(31.0)%	24,645	37,233	(12,588)	(33.8)%
Administration and transfer agent fees	9,499	12,577	(3,078)	(24.5)%	19,497	25,619	(6,122)	(23.9)%
Other income and fees	227	577	(350)	(60.7)%	402	1,272	(870)	(68.4)%
Total revenues	\$80,085	\$99,656	\$(19,571)	(19.6)%	\$160,380	\$203,487	\$(43,107)	(21.2)%
Investment Management Fees								

Investment management fees are earned based on a percentage of assets under management and are paid pursuant to the terms of the respective investment management contracts, which generally require monthly or quarterly payments. Investment management fees decreased by \$10.7 million, or 15.5%, for the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to a \$9.6 billion, or 17.6%, decrease in average assets under management. The decrease in average assets under management for the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in the prior year was due primarily to net outflows in our open-end funds partially offset by market appreciation and positive net flows in institutional, separately managed accounts and ETFs.

Investment management fees decreased by \$23.5 million, or 16.9%, for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in the prior year due to a \$9.8 billion, or 17.8%, decrease in average assets under management. The decrease in average assets under management for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in the prior year was due primarily to net outflows in our open-end funds partially offset by market appreciation.

Distribution and Service Fees

Distribution and service fees, which are asset based fees earned from open-end funds for distribution services, decreased by \$5.5 million or 31.0% and \$12.6 million or 33.8%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year due to lower average open-end assets under management in share classes that have distribution and service fees.

Administration and Transfer Agent Fees

Administration and transfer agent fees represents fees earned for fund administration and shareholder services from our open-end mutual funds and certain of our closed-end funds. Fund administration and transfer agent fees decreased by \$3.1 million or 24.5% and \$6.1 million or 23.9%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year due to lower average assets under management for which the Company provides fund administration and shareholder services.

Table of Contents

Other Income and Fees

Other income and fees primarily represent contingent sales charges earned from investor redemptions of certain shares sold without a front-end sales charge. Other income and fees decreased \$0.4 million or 60.7% and \$0.9 million or 68.4% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in the prior year primarily due to a decrease in contingent sales charges as a result of lower current year redemptions of open-end fund share classes subject to those charges.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses by category were as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,				
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%
(\$ in thousands)								
Operating expenses								
Employment expenses	\$33,065	\$33,593	\$(528	(1.6)%	\$69,042	\$69,215	\$(173) (0.2)%
Distribution and other asset-based expenses	17,432	23,676	(6,244) (26.4)%	35,533	48,183	(12,650) (26.3)%
Other operating expenses	17,075	24,469	(7,394	(30.2)%	29,029	42,013	(12,984	(30.9)%
Restructuring and severance	2,391		2,391	100.0 %	2,391		2,391	100.0 %
Depreciation and amortization expense	1,379	1,710	(331	(19.4)%	2,892	3,326	(434) (13.0)%
Total operating expenses	\$71,342	\$83,448	\$(12,106)	(14.5)%	\$138,887	\$162,737	\$(23,850)) (14.7)%

Employment Expenses

Employment expenses primarily consist of fixed and variable compensation and related employee benefit costs. Employment expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 were \$33.1 million and \$69.0 million, respectively, which represented a decrease of \$0.5 million or 1.6% and \$0.2 million or 0.2%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in variable compensation resulting from lower profits, partially offset by higher fixed employment expenses primarily at our affiliates, including Virtus ETF Solutions, which was acquired in the second quarter of 2015.

Distribution and Other Asset-Based Expenses

Distribution and other asset-based expenses consist primarily of payments to third-party distribution partners for providing services to investors in our funds and payments to third-party service providers for investment management related services. These payments are primarily based on percentages of assets under management or revenues. These expenses also include the amortization of deferred sales commissions related to up-front commissions on shares sold without a front-end sales charge to shareholders. The deferred sales commissions are amortized on a straight line basis over the periods in which commissions are generally recovered from distribution fee revenues and contingent sales charges received from shareholders of the funds upon redemption of their shares. Distribution and other asset-based expenses decreased by \$6.2 million, or 26.4%, in the three months ended June 30, 2016 and \$12.7 million, or 26.3%, in the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same periods in the prior year primarily due to lower average open-end fund assets under management and a lower percentage of assets under management in share classes where we pay distribution expenses.

Table of Contents

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of investment research and technology costs, professional fees, travel and distribution related costs, rent and occupancy expenses, operating expenses of our consolidated sponsored investment products and other miscellaneous costs. Other operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016 decreased \$7.4 million, or 30.2%, to \$17.1 million as compared to \$24.5 million for the same period in the prior year primarily due to a \$11.3 million loss contingency recorded in the second quarter of 2015 related to a regulatory matter that was settled and paid in 2015. Other operating expenses of consolidated sponsored investment products and the consolidated investment product for the three months ended June 30, 2016 increased by \$3.7 million over the prior year primarily due to expenses associated with the issuance of our CLO.

Other operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016 decreased \$13.0 million, or 30.9%, to \$29.0 million as compared to \$42.0 million for the same period in the prior year primarily due to a \$16.5 million loss contingency recorded in the first half of 2015 related to a regulatory matter that was settled and paid in 2015. Other operating expenses of consolidated sponsored investment products and the consolidated investment product for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased by \$4.0 million over the prior year primarily due expenses associated with the issuance of our CLO.

Restructuring and Severance Expense

We incurred \$2.4 million in restructuring and severance costs in the three months ended June 30, 2016. Approximately \$2.0 million was related to severance costs associated with reductions in headcount and \$0.4 million related to future lease obligations and leasehold improvements for vacated office space.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense consists primarily of the straight-line depreciation of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements as well as the amortization of acquired investment advisory contracts, recorded as definite-lived intangible assets, both over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by \$0.3 million and \$0.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year primarily due to lower amortization of intangible assets.

Other (Expense) Income, net

Other (Expense) Income, net by category were as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2016		Six Mo	Six Months Ended June 3 2016		30,		
	2016	2015	vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	vs. 2015	%
(\$ in thousands)								
Other Income (Expense)								
Realized and unrealized gain on investments net	° \$3,281	\$343	\$2,938	856.6	% \$2,623	\$888	\$1,735	195.4 %
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on								
investments of consolidated sponsored investment products, net	3,097	(3,242)	6,339	195.5	% 3,392	(652)	4,044	620.2 %
m resument products, not	581		581	100.0	% 2,816	_	2,816	100.0 %

Realized and unrealized gain of consolidated

investment product, net

Other (expense) income, net (15) 247 (262) (106.1)% 213 682 (469) (68.8)%

Total Other Income (Expense), net \$6,944 \$(2,652) \$9,596 361.8 % \$9,044 \$918 \$8,126 885.2 %

Table of Contents

Realized and unrealized gain on investments, net

Realized and unrealized gain on investments, net increased during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 by \$2.9 million and \$1.7 million, or 856.6% and 195.4%, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase in realized and unrealized gains, net for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 is primarily due to a realized gain of approximately \$2.9 million on the sale of one of our equity method investments, a minority interest in a subadviser, during the three months ended June 30, 2016.

Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments of consolidated sponsored investment products, net

Realized and unrealized gains, net on investments of consolidated sponsored investment products were \$3.1 million and \$3.4 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, compared to realized and unrealized losses, net of consolidated sponsored investment products of \$3.2 million and \$0.7 million during the same periods in the prior year. The realized and unrealized gains, net for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 primarily consist of unrealized gains related to emerging markets debt and target date retirement strategies. The realized and unrealized loss for the three months ended June 30, 2015 was primarily attributable to unrealized losses on our alternative funds.

Realized and unrealized gain of consolidated investment product, net

Realized and unrealized gains, net on investments of our consolidated investment product were \$0.6 million and \$2.8 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively. The realized and unrealized gains, net of our consolidated investment product during the three months ended June 30, 2016, primarily consists of \$1.0 million in unrealized gains on the note payable of the consolidated investment product partially offset by \$0.4 million in unrealized losses on the investments of the consolidated investment product. The realized and unrealized gains, net of our consolidated investment products during the six months ended June 30, 2016 primarily consists of \$1.8 million in unrealized gains on the investments and \$1.0 million in unrealized gains on the note payable of the consolidated investment product.

Interest (Expense) Income, net

Interest (Expense) Income, net by category were as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,					
	2016	2015	2016 vs. 2015	%	2016	2015	2016 vs 2015	8. %	
(\$ in thousands)									
Interest Income (Expense)									
Interest expense	\$(129)	\$(121)	\$(8)	(6.6)%	\$(261)	\$(244)	\$(17) (7.0)%
Interest and dividend income	619	302	\$317	105.0 %	892	582	310	53.3	%
Interest and dividend income of									
investments of consolidated sponsored	1,696	3,098	\$(1,402)	(45.3)%	4,657	5,422	(765) (14.1)%
investment products									
Interest expense of consolidated	(5,668)		\$(5,668)	(100.0)%	(6.400.)		(6.400) (100.0	11%
investment product	(3,000)		Ψ(3,000)	(100.0)//	(0,400)		(0,400) (100.0	1)10
Interest income of consolidated	2,582	_	2,582	100.0 %	4,788		4,788	100.0	%
investment product	2,302		,		,		1,700	100.0	70
Total Interest (Expense) Income, net	\$(900)	\$3,279	\$(4,179)	(127.4)%	\$3,676	\$5,760	\$(2,084	1) (36.2)%

Table of Contents

Interest and Dividend Income

Interest and dividend income increased \$0.3 million or 105.0% and 53.3% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The increase is due to a higher level of marketable securities in the first half of 2016 compared to same period in the prior years.

Interest and Dividend Income of Investments of Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products

Interest and dividend income of consolidated sponsored investment products decreased \$1.4 million and \$0.8 million or 45.3% and 14.1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2106, respectively, compared to the same periods in the prior year. The decrease is primarily due to the liquidation of our alternative funds during the three months ended June 30, 2016.

Interest Expense and Interest Income of Consolidated Investment Product

Interest expense of consolidated investment product represents interest expense on the notes payable of the consolidated investment product. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, interest expense includes amortization of discount on notes payable of \$3.7 million related to the issuance of our CLO. Interest Income of consolidated investment product consists primarily of interest income on the investments of our consolidated investment product.

Income Tax Expense

The provision for income taxes reflects U.S. federal, state and local taxes at an estimated effective tax rate of 39.9% and 39.4% for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Certain Financial Data

The following table summarizes certain key financial data relating to our liquidity and capital resources:

	June 30, 2016	December 31, 2015	Change 2016 vs. 2015	%	
(\$ in thousands)					
Balance Sheet Data					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$155,532	\$ 87,574	\$67,958	77.6	%
Investments	91,736	56,738	34,998	61.7	%
Deferred taxes, net	46,434	54,143	(7,709)	(14.2)%
Dividends payable	4,047	4,233	(186)	(4.4)%
Total equity	466,106	509,457	(43,351)	(8.5)%

Six Mo Ended	nths June 30,	Change
2016	2015	2016 vs. _%

(\$ in thousands)

Cash Flow Data:

Provided by (Used In):

Operating Activities \$51,945 \$1,554 \$50,391 3,242.7 %

Investing Activities 6,751 (4,601) 11,352 (246.7)% Financing Activities 91,590 (4,551) 96,141 (2,112.5)%

Table of Contents

Overview

At June 30, 2016, we had \$155.5 million of cash and cash equivalents and \$80.2 million of investments in marketable securities compared to \$87.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and \$41.5 million of investments in marketable securities at December 31, 2015. Our credit facility (the "Credit Facility") allows us to borrow up to \$75.0 million, which expires in September 2017. At June 30, 2016, we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. On June 8, 2016, we completed a \$47.1 million "modified Dutch Auction" tender offer, accepting for purchase 556,509 shares representing 6.7% of our common stock outstanding. We also paid \$3.7 million in dividends during the quarter ended June 30, 2016.

Short-Term Capital Requirements

Our short-term capital requirements, which we consider to be those capital requirements due within one year, include payment of annual incentive compensation, income tax payments and other operating expenses, primarily consisting of investment research and technology costs, professional fees, distribution and occupancy costs. Incentive compensation, which is one of the largest annual operating cash expenditures, is paid in the first quarter of the year. In the first quarter of 2016 and 2015, we paid approximately \$42.5 million and \$45.9 million, respectively, in incentive compensation earned during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Short-term capital requirements may also be affected by employee tax withholding payments related to the net share settlement of equity awards. Our liquidity could also be impacted by certain contingencies, including any legal or regulatory settlements, described more fully in Note 12, Commitments and Contingencies within our condensed consolidated financial statements.

Other Uses of Capital

We expect that our main uses of cash will be to (i) invest in our organic growth, including our distribution efforts and launches of new products including CLOs, separately managed accounts or closed-end funds; (ii) seed new investment strategies and make new investments to introduce new products or to enhance distribution access; (iii) return capital to stockholders through acquisition of shares of our common stock, payment of cash dividends on our common stock or other means; (iv) fund ongoing and potential investments in our infrastructure; and (v) invest in inorganic growth opportunities as they arise.

As of June 30, 2016, 2.7 million shares of our common stock have been authorized to be repurchased under the share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors and 1.3 million shares remain available for repurchase. Under the terms of the program, the Company may repurchase shares of its common stock from time to time at its discretion through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisms, depending on price and prevailing market and business conditions. The program, which has no specified term, may be suspended or terminated at any time. In addition, to the extent that purchases pursuant to the share repurchase program would cause the Bank of Montreal to beneficially own 25% or more of our outstanding shares, we may limit or cease further purchases pursuant to the share repurchase program.

During the first quarter of 2016, we repurchased a total of 176,204 common shares for approximately \$15.0 million under the board authorized share repurchase program. Separately on June 8, 2016, we completed a \$47.1 million "modified Dutch Auction" tender offer, accepting for purchase 556,509 shares representing 6.7% of our common stock outstanding. These shares repurchased under the tender offer were not part of our share repurchase program discussed above.

For the six months ended June 30, 2016, we paid cash dividends on our common stock in the amount of \$0.90 per share, totaling \$7.6 million. On May 26, 2016, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.45 per

common share to be paid on August 12, 2016 to shareholders of record at the close of business on July 29, 2016. Capital and Reserve Requirements

We have two broker-dealer subsidiaries registered with the SEC which are subject to certain rules regarding minimum net capital, as defined by those rules. The broker-dealers are required to maintain a ratio of "aggregate indebtedness" to "net capital," as defined, which may not exceed 15 to 1 and must also maintain a minimum amount of net capital. Failure to meet these requirements could result in adverse consequences to us including additional reporting requirements, a lower required ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital or interruption of our business. At both June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital of our broker-dealers was below the maximum allowed, and net capital was significantly greater than the required minimum.

Table of Contents

Balance Sheet

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in banks and money market fund investments. Investments consist primarily of investments in our affiliated mutual funds. Consolidated sponsored investment products primarily represent investment products we sponsor and where we own a majority of the voting interest in the entity. As of June 30, 2016, we consolidated a total of 18 sponsored investment products. Our consolidated investment product represents our investment in a collateralized loan obligation ("CLO"). At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had no debt outstanding that was a general obligation of the Company. Operating Cash Flow

Net cash used in operating activities of \$51.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased by \$50.4 million from net cash used in operating activities of \$1.6 million in the same period in the prior year. The increase in net cash used in operating activities was due primarily to increased sales of investments of consolidated sponsored investment products partially offset by increased purchases of investments of the consolidated investment product.

Investing Cash Flow

Net cash provided by investing activities consists primarily of capital expenditures and other investing activities related to our business operations. Net cash provided by investing activities of \$6.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased by \$11.4 million from net cash used in investing activities of \$4.6 million in the same period for the prior year. The primary investing activities were cash inflows of \$8.6 million related to the sale of an equity method investment offset by outflows of \$1.1 million due to capital expenditures and purchases of other investments of \$0.8 million.

Financing Cash Flow

Cash flows used in financing activities consist primarily of return of capital through repurchases of common shares and dividends, withholding obligations for the net share settlement of employee share transactions and contributions to noncontrolling interests related to our consolidated sponsored investment products. Net cash provided by financing activities increased \$96.1 million to \$91.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 as compared to net cash used in financing activities of \$4.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The primary reason for the increase was due to cash inflows of \$316.3 million related to the issuance of notes payable by the consolidated investment product partially offset by the repayment of debt of the consolidated investment product of \$152.6 million, share repurchases of \$61.8 million and dividend payments of \$7.6 million.

Our Credit Facility, as amended and restated, has a five-year term expiring in September 2017 and provides borrowing capacity of up to \$75.0 million with a \$7.5 million sub-limit for the issuance of standby letters of credit. In addition, the Credit Facility provides for a \$50.0 million increase provision conditioned on approval by the lending group. The Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of our assets, excluding our broker-dealers. At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, no amount was outstanding under the Credit Facility. As of June 30, 2016, we had the capacity to draw on the entire \$75.0 million available under the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility contains financial covenants with respect to leverage and interest coverage and requires us to pay an annual commitment fee on any unused portion. We were in compliance with all debt covenants as of June 30, 2016.

Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations are summarized in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. As of June 30, 2016, there have been no material changes outside of the ordinary course in our contractual obligations since December 31, 2015. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements and the accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require the use of estimates. Actual results will vary from these estimates. A discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates is included in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. A complete description of

Table of Contents

our significant accounting policies is included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There were no changes in our critical accounting policies in the six months ended June 30, 2016.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of accounting standards, see Note 2 within our condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from investment management, distribution and service and administration and transfer agent fees, which are based on the market value of assets under management. Accordingly, a decline in the prices of securities would cause our revenues and income to decline due to a decrease in the value of the assets under management. In addition, a decline in security prices could cause our clients to withdraw their investments in favor of other investments offering higher returns or lower risk, which would cause our revenues and income to decline.

We are also subject to market risk due to a decline in the market value of our investments, which consist of marketable securities, the Company's net interests in consolidated sponsored investment products and the Company's net interest in a consolidated investment product. The following table summarizes the impact of a 10% increase or decrease in the fair values of these financial instruments:

	June 30, 2	2016
\$ in thousands		10%
		Change
Marketable Securities - Available for Sale (a)	\$3,569	\$357
Marketable Securities - Trading (b)	76,665	7,667
Company's net interests in Consolidated Sponsored Investment Products (c)	104,872	10,487
Company's net interest in Consolidated Investment Product (c)	27,502	2,750
Total Investments subject to Market Risk	\$212,608	\$21,261

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, until the investment is sold or otherwise disposed of, or if the investment is determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in income. The Company evaluates the carrying value of investments for

- (a) impairment on a quarterly basis. In its impairment analysis, the Company takes into consideration numerous criteria, including the duration and extent of any decline in fair value, and the intent and ability of the Company to hold the security for a period of time sufficient for a recovery in value. If the decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary, the carrying value of the security is generally written down to fair value through the Consolidated Statement of Operations. If such a 10% increase or decrease in fair value were to occur, it would not result in an other-than-temporary impairment charge that would be material to the Company pre-tax earnings.
- (b) If such a 10% increase or decrease in fair values were to occur, the change of these trading investments would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in our pre-tax earnings.
 - These represent the Company's direct investments in investment products that are consolidated. Upon consolidation, these direct investments are eliminated, and the assets and liabilities of CIP and CSIP are
- (c) consolidated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, together with a noncontrolling interest balance representing the portion of the CIP or CSIP owned by third parties. If a 10% increase or decrease in the fair values of the Company's direct investments in CIP and CSIP were to occur, it would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in our pre-tax earnings.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. At June 30, 2016, we were exposed to interest rate risk as a result of approximately \$172.2 million in investments in fixed and floating rate income funds/vehicles we have invested in which includes our

Table of Contents

consolidated sponsored investment products and our consolidated investment product. We considered a hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates and determined that the fair value of our fixed income investments would change by an estimated \$5.5 million.

At June 30, 2016, we had no amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility. Amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility bear interest at an annual rate equal to, at our option, either LIBOR for interest periods of one, two, three or six months or an alternate base rate (as defined in the Credit Facility agreement), plus, in each case, an applicable margin, that ranges from 0.75% to 2.50%.

At June 30, 2016, we had \$319.7 million outstanding of notes payable of our consolidated investment product. The notes bear interest at an annual rate equal to average LIBOR rate for interest periods of three months and six months plus, in each case, an applicable margin, that ranges from 1.00% to 8.75%.

Table of Contents

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of June 30, 2016, the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Legal Matters

The Company is regularly involved in litigation and arbitration as well as examinations, inquiries and investigations by various regulatory bodies, including the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), involving its compliance with, among other things, securities laws, client investment guidelines, laws governing the activities of broker-dealers and other laws and regulations affecting its products and other activities. Legal and regulatory matters of this nature involve or may involve but are not limited to the Company's activities as an employer, issuer of securities, investor, investment adviser, broker-dealer or taxpayer. In addition, in the normal course of business, the Company discusses matters with its regulators raised during regulatory examinations or is otherwise subject to their inquiry. These matters could result in censures, fines, penalties or other sanctions.

The Company accrues for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability and the determination as to whether a loss is reasonably estimable. In addition, in the event the Company determines that a loss is not probable, but is reasonably possible, and it becomes possible to develop what the Company believes to be a reasonable range of possible loss, then the Company will include disclosures related to such matter as appropriate and in compliance with ASC 450, Loss Contingencies. The disclosures, accruals or estimates, if any, resulting from the foregoing analysis are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter. Based on information currently available, available insurance coverage and established reserves, the Company believes that the outcomes of its legal and regulatory proceedings are not likely, either individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or its consolidated financial condition. However, in the event of unexpected subsequent developments and given the inherent unpredictability of these legal and regulatory matters, the Company can provide no assurance that its assessment of any claim, dispute, regulatory examination or investigation or other legal matter will reflect the ultimate outcome and an adverse outcome in certain

matters could, from time to time, have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations or cash flows in particular quarterly or annual periods.

In re Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Securities Litigation; formerly Tom Cummins v. Virtus Investment Partners Inc. et al

On February 20, 2015, a putative class action complaint alleging violations of certain provisions of the federal securities laws was filed by an individual shareholder against the Company and certain of the Company's current officers (the

Table of Contents

"defendants") in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court"). On April 21, 2015, three plaintiffs, including the original plaintiff, filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff and, on June 9, 2015, the Court appointed Arkansas Teachers Retirement System lead plaintiff. On August 21, 2015, plaintiff filed a Consolidated Class Action Complaint (the "Consolidated Complaint") amending the originally filed complaint, which was purportedly filed on behalf of all purchasers of the Company's common stock between January 25, 2013 and May 11, 2015 (the "Class Period"). The Consolidated Complaint alleges that, during the Class Period, the defendants disseminated materially false and misleading statements and concealed material adverse facts relating to certain funds formerly subadvised by F-Squared Investments Inc. ("F-Squared"). The Consolidated Complaint alleges claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Rule 10b-5. The plaintiff seeks to recover unspecified damages. A motion to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint was filed on behalf of the Company and the other defendants on October 21, 2015. On July 1, 2016, the Court entered an opinion and order granting in part, and denying in part, the motion to dismiss, narrowing Plaintiff's claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and dismissing one of the defendants from the suit. The remaining defendants filed an Answer to the Consolidated Complaint on August 5, 2016. The Company believes that the suit is without merit and intends to defend it vigorously. The Company believes that there is not a material loss that is probable and reasonably estimable related to this claim.

Mark Youngers v. Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. et al

On May 8, 2015, a putative class action complaint alleging violations of certain provisions of the federal securities laws was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California (the "District Court") by an individual who alleges he is a former shareholder of one of the Virtus mutual funds formerly subadvised by F-Squared and formerly known as the AlphaSector Funds. The complaint alleges claims against the Company, certain of the Company's officers and affiliates, and certain other parties (the "defendants"). The complaint was purportedly filed on behalf of purchasers of the AlphaSector Funds between May 8, 2010 and December 22, 2014, inclusive (the "Class Period"). The complaint alleges that, during the Class Period, the defendants disseminated materially false and misleading statements and concealed or omitted material facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading. On June 7, 2015, a group of three individuals, including the original plaintiff, filed a motion to be appointed lead plaintiff and on July 27, 2015, the District Court appointed movants as lead plaintiff. On October 1, 2015, plaintiff filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint which, among other things, added a derivative claim for breach of fiduciary duty on behalf of Virtus Opportunities Trust. On October 19, 2015, the District Court entered an order transferring the action to the Southern District of New York (the "Court"). On January 4, 2016, Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint. A motion to dismiss was filed on behalf of the Company and affiliated defendants on February 1, 2016. On July 1, 2016, the Court entered an opinion and order granting in part, and denying in part, the motion to dismiss. The Court dismissed four causes of action entirely and a fifth cause of action with respect to a portion of the Class Period. The Court also dismissed all claims against ten defendants named in the Complaint. The Court held that Plaintiff's may pursue certain securities claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Section 12 of the Securities Act of 1933. The remaining defendants filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint on August 5, 2016. The defendants intend to file a motion to certify an interlocutory appeal of the July 1, 2016 order to the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit on or before August 26, 2016. Oral argument on the motion is scheduled for October 7, 2016. The Company believes that the suit has no basis in law or fact and intends to defend it vigorously. The Company believes that there is not a material loss that is probable and reasonably estimable related to this claim.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to our risk factors previously reported in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the first six months of 2016, we repurchased a total of 176,204 shares of our common stock pursuant to a repurchase program implemented by our Board of Directors in 2010. As of June 30, 2016, 2.7 million shares of our common stock have been authorized to be repurchased under the program, and 1,309,652 shares remain available for repurchase. Under the terms of the program, we may repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time at our discretion through open market repurchases and/or privately negotiated transactions, depending on price and prevailing market and business conditions. The program, which has no specified term, may be suspended or terminated at any time.

On June 8, 2016 the Company completed a modified "Dutch Auction" tender offer to repurchase up to \$75.0 million of its common stock. The repurchase of these shares was outside of the repurchase plan outlined above and the shares

Table of Contents

repurchased were retired. The Company paid \$47.1 million, including transaction costs, to repurchase 556,509 shares at a tender price of \$82.50 per share.

The following table sets forth information regarding our share repurchases in each month during the quarter ended June 30, 2016:

			Total number of	Maximum
			shares	number of
	Total number of	Average price	repurchased	shares that may
Month	shares	paid per share	as part of	yet be
	repurchased (3)	(1)	publicly	repurchased
			announced plans	under the plans
			or programs (3)	or programs (2)
April 1-30, 2016		\$ —	_	1,309,652
May 1-31, 2016		\$ —	_	1,309,652
June 1-30, 2016	556,509	\$ 82.50	556,509	1,309,652
Total	556,509		556,509	

- (1) Average price paid per share is calculated on a settlement basis and excludes commissions.
- Pursuant to a program announced in the fourth quarter of 2010 and most recently expanded in October 2015. This repurchase program is not subject to an expiration date.
 - On June 8, 2016 the Company completed a modified "Dutch Auction" tender offer to repurchase up to \$75.0
- million of its common stock. The Company paid \$47.1 million, including transaction costs, to repurchase 556,509 shares at a tender price of \$82.50 per share. The repurchase of these shares was outside of the repurchase plan outlined above and the shares repurchased were retired.

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the period covered by this Quarterly Report. Shares of our common stock purchased by participants in our Employee Stock Purchase Plan were delivered to participant accounts via open market purchases at fair value by the third-party administrator under the plan. We do not reserve shares for this plan or discount the purchase price of the shares.

Table of Contents

Item 6.	Exhibits
Exhibit Number	Description
* 10.1	Amended and Restated Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant's Form 8-K, filed on May 26, 2016)
31.1	Certification of the Registrant's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of the Registrant's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1	Certification of the Registrant's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101	The following information formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (ii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, (v) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 and (vi) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).
*	Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.
44	

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 8, 2016

VIRTUS INVESTMENT PARTNERS, INC.

(Registrant)

By:/s/ Michael A. Angerthal

Michael A. Angerthal

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)